

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis (Review)

Wurzel D, Marchant JM, Yerkovich ST, Upham JW, Masters IB, Chang AB

Wurzel D, Marchant JM, Yerkovich ST, Upham JW, Masters IB, Chang AB. Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 6. Art. No.: CD008695. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008695.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
RESULTS	5
DISCUSSION	7
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	7
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
REFERENCES	8
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	10
	14
······································	15
	15
Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Respiratory system adverse events, Outcome 2 Hospitalised for respiratory events	16
	16
Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Development of pseudomonas resistance (when initially sensitive), Outcome 1 Pseudomonas	
	17
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	17
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	17
	17
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	18
INDEX TERMS	18

[Intervention Review]

Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis

Danielle Wurzel^{1,2}, Julie M Marchant^{1,2}, Stephanie T Yerkovich³, John W Upham⁴, I Brent Masters^{1,2}, Anne B Chang^{1,2,5}

¹Queensland Children's Respiratory Centre, Royal Children's Hospital, Brisbane, Australia. ²Queensland Children's Medical Research Institute, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia. ³QLD Centre for Pulmonary Transplantation and Vascular Disease, The Prince Charles Hospital, Brisbane, Australia. ⁴School of Medicine, University of Queensland & Respiratory Medicine, Princess Alexandra Hospital, The University Queensland & Princess Alexandra Hospital, Brisbane, Australia. ⁵Menzies School of Health Research, Charles Darwin University, Casuarina, Australia

Contact address: Danielle Wurzel, Queensland Children's Respiratory Centre, Royal Children's Hospital, Herston Road, Brisbane, Queensland, 4029, Australia. daniellewurzel@netspace.net.au.

Editorial group: Cochrane Airways Group. Publication status and date: New, published in Issue 6, 2011. Review content assessed as up-to-date: 8 February 2011.

Citation: Wurzel D, Marchant JM, Yerkovich ST, Upham JW, Masters IB, Chang AB. Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2011, Issue 6. Art. No.: CD008695. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008695.pub2.

Copyright © 2011 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Bronchiectasis is an important cause of respiratory morbidity in both developing and developed countries. Antibiotics are considered standard therapy in the treatment of this condition but it is unknown whether short courses (four weeks or less) are efficacious.

Objectives

To determine whether short courses of antibiotics (i.e. less than or equal to four weeks) for treatment of acute and stable state bronchiectasis, in adults and children, are efficacious when compared to placebo or usual care.

Search methods

The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL, *The Cochrane Library*), MEDLINE, EMBASE, OLDMEDLINE, CINAHL, AMED and PsycINFO and handsearching of respiratory journals and meeting abstracts were performed by the Cochrane Airways Group up to February 2011.

Selection criteria

Only randomised controlled trials were considered. Adults and children with bronchiectasis (defined clinically or radiologically) were included. Patients with cystic fibrosis were excluded.

Data collection and analysis

Two review authors independently reviewed the titles, abstracts and citations to assess eligibility for inclusion. Only one study fulfilled the inclusion criteria and thus meta-analysis could not be performed.

Main results

The single eligible study showed a small benefit, when compared to placebo, of four weeks of inhaled antibiotic therapy in adults with bronchiectasis and pseudomonas in their sputum. There were no studies in children and no studies on oral or intravenous antibiotics.

Authors' conclusions

There is insufficient evidence in the current literature to make reasonable conclusions about the efficacy of short course antibiotics in the management of adults and children with bronchiectasis. Until further evidence is available, adherence to current treatment guidelines is recommended.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis

There is a paucity of evidence to conclude whether short courses of antibiotics (i.e. less than or equal to four weeks) are equivalent or superior to placebo in the treatment of stable or exacerbation state bronchiectasis. One single study showed some benefit of short-course inhaled antibiotics over placebo, in terms of microbiological response and subjective improvement in medical condition, although this was balanced against an increase in adverse effects and antimicrobial resistance in the treatment group. Given the potential benefits of shorter duration antibiotic therapy in bronchiectasis, further RCTs are clearly needed to answer this important question.

BACKGROUND

Non cystic-fibrosis bronchiectasis, previously termed an 'orphan disease' is increasingly recognised as a major cause of respiratory morbidity both in developing countries as well as affluent countries, and particularly within Indigenous populations (Chang 2008; Edwards 2003; Singleton 2000).

There are many known aetiological associations with bronchiectasis. Severe lower respiratory tract infection has previously been identified as the most common preceding medical condition in children diagnosed with bronchiectasis (Chang 2008b; Eastham 2004; Karakoc 2009; Singleton 2000), and continues to be a major cause of bronchiectasis worldwide (Callahan 2002; Edwards 2003; Karakoc 2009). However, diseases that affect the pulmonary system (such as immunodeficiency) have become increasingly identified as important causes of bronchiectasis within developed countries (Li 2005; Shoemark 2007).

In adults, the major aetiological associations include post-infection pneumonia or TB, primary ciliary dyskinesia, allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis and immunodeficiencies (Shoemark 2007). Primary lung diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (O'Brien 2000; Patel 2004), sarcoidosis (Lewis 2002), and bronchiolitis obliterans (Chang 1998) have been associated with bronchiectasis as a secondary manifestation. In children, immunodeficiency, aspiration, primary ciliary dyskinesia and congenital airway anomalies are important considerations (Li 2005). Despite intensive investigations, an underlying cause is often not found in many children and adults with bronchiectasis (Shoemark 2007).

Description of the condition

Bronchiectasis is a disease that primarily affects the airways in the initial disease phase. The postulated pathophysiology includes a 'vicious circle' of infection, inflammation and impairment of mucociliary clearance mechanisms eventually leading to airway destruction and bronchial dilatation (Cole 1986).

Adult patients usually present with cough, daily sputum production, dyspnoea, rhinosinusitis, haemoptysis and recurrent pleurisy (King 2004). Children usually present with chronic wet cough or recurrent pneumonia (Singleton 2000). They may have clinical signs such as crackles and wheeze on chest auscultation and sometimes peripheral clubbing (King 2004). With appropriate treatment (usually antibiotics and airway clearance), the chronic cough can totally resolve (Kapur 2009), as can radiological evidence of bronchiectasis (Gaillard 2003). High-resolution Computed Tomography (HRCT) of the chest is considered the gold-standard in diagnosis of bronchiectasis. However, controversy exists as to the normal cut-off of broncho-arterial ratio (particularly in children) (Chang 2008b). Hence, bronchiectasis is sometimes defined clinically in children (Chang 2008b; Singleton 2000). Recent studies suggest that volumetric scans acquired using multi-detector CT are substantially more sensitive and accurate than conventional HRCT for assessing bronchiectasis (Hill 2009).

A combination of airway clearance techniques and antibiotic therapy, with or without other therapies such as anti-inflammatory agents and bronchodilators, are current recommended treatment for non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis (Chang 2008b). Specific treatments targeted to the underlying aetiology (such as intravenous immunoglobulin for common variable immunodeficiency) is also important in the management of bronchiectasis.

Early recognition and treatment of bronchiectasis may improve long term outcomes (Kapur 2010).

Description of the intervention

Antibiotics are the mainstay of therapy in the management of bronchiectasis (Prasad 2007). There are various methods to deliver antibiotics to the pulmonary system (oral, intravenous or inhaled). The type of antibiotics given may be targeted to the patient's known airway organism(s) or used empirically.

How the intervention might work

Infection and inflammation are key components in the aetiopathogenesis of bronchiectasis (Cole 1986). Bronchiectatic airways facilitate chronic bacterial colonisation and predispose them to recurrent infections (Loebinger 2007). Chronic bacterial infection elicits a systemic inflammatory response with local release of inflammatory cytokines (including TNF- α and IL-8) causing migration of inflammatory cells such as neutrophils and lymphocytes (Gaga 1998; Shum 2000). Neutrophils release proteolytic enzymes e.g. neutrophil elastase (Amitani 1995) and reactive oxygen species (Anderson 1996), into the airway lumen which cause epithelial damage and stimulate mucous production (Adler 1990). Antibiotics can potentially halt the bacterial infection and subsequently limit ongoing neutrophilic inflammation.

An existing Cochrane Review found that prolonged courses of antibiotics for bronchiectasis, i.e. greater than four weeks in length, are effective in reducing sputum volume and purulence but have a limited impact on the natural history of the condition (Evans 2007). We have reviewed the literature to determine the impact of shorter courses of antibiotics during stable state and exacerbation state in bronchiectasis.

Why it is important to do this review

Most adults and children with bronchiectasis are given frequent courses of antibiotics, the optimal duration of which is unknown. The published Cochrane Review on antibiotics for bronchiectasis is limited to prolonged courses greater than four weeks in duration (Evans 2007).

In clinical practice, short courses of antibiotics during stable and exacerbation states of bronchiectasis often result in improvement in symptoms. Objective measures of airway inflammation also improve, as some studies have shown, for example use of short-course inhaled gentamicin resulted in improvement in airway hypersecretion and inflammation (Lin 1997).

There is currently a paucity of evidence on the optimal duration of antibiotics in stable and exacerbation states. However, there is a trend towards use of shorter courses (i.e. less than two weeks) amongst clinicians. The risks of antibiotic side effects and resistance are a significant concern when using longer courses of antibiotics. A review of the literature to determine the evidence for use of shorter courses of antibiotics in adults and children in stable and exacerbation states of bronchiectasis is important to assist in guiding clinical practice.

OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the efficacy of short courses (i.e. four weeks or less) of antibiotics in children and adults with bronchiectasis;

(a) during stable state bronchiectasis; and

(b) for reducing the severity and frequency of acute respiratory exacerbations.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Any randomised controlled trial comparing outcomes with use of antibiotics (intravenous, oral or inhaled) versus placebo or usual care as the control, for periods of less than, or equal to, four weeks, in non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. Participants are allowed to have adjunctive therapies (such as airway clearance) as long as they have equal chance of having these adjunctive therapies.

Types of participants

Adults and children with bronchiectasis (defined clinically or radiologically) not related to cystic fibrosis.

Types of interventions

Any short (four weeks or less) course of antibiotics given by intravenous, oral or nebulised routes.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

The primary outcome measures were change in:

1. Symptom score (e.g. bronchiectasis severity control, coughspecific/respiratory-specific quality of life (QoL) or generic health-specific QoL)

2. Lung function indices (airway resistance or airway calibre measurements)

3. Adverse events

Secondary outcomes

1. Sputum or airway markers (weight, purulence, colour (Bronkotest), inflammatory profiles)

- 2. Microbiological data (density, resistance patterns)
- 3. Exacerbation data (length, time to next exacerbation)

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

Randomised controlled trials were identified using the Cochrane Airways Group Specialised Register of trials, which is derived from systematic searches of bibliographic databases including the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), MEDLINE, EMBASE, OLDMEDLINE, CINAHL, AMED and PsycINFO, and handsearching of respiratory journals and meeting abstracts (please see the Airways Group search methods for further details). We searched all records in the Specialised Register coded as 'bronchiectasis' using the following terms:

antibiotic* OR *cillin OR *tetracycline OR *mycin OR macrolide* OR quinolone* OR *oxacin OR trimethoprim OR *sulpha OR *ceph or anti-bacteri* or "anti bacteri* OR anti-microbial* OR anti*

The search was conducted in February 2011.

Searching other resources

We handsearched all the papers and reviews identified for further references and contacted authors to request their identification of any unpublished or missed trials. We contacted researchers directly as required to establish whether other unpublished or ongoing studies were available for assessment. We handsearched clinical trials web sites (www.clinicalstudyresults.org; www.clinicaltrials.gov; www.fda.gov).

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Following electronic literature searches, AC and DW independently reviewed the searches to identify potentially relevant trials for full review. We searched bibliographies and texts to identify additional studies. From the full text using specific criteria, AC and DW independently selected trials for inclusion. There was complete agreement between review authors.

Data extraction and management

We extracted information from each study for the following characteristics:

1. Design (description of randomisation, blinding, allocation, number of study centres and location, withdrawals)

2. Participants (N, mean age, age range of the study, baseline lung function, duration of antibiotics < 4 weeks versus no antibiotics)

3. Intervention (type and duration of antibiotic,

appropriateness of antibiotic choice, dosing schedules of groups)4. Outcomes (type of outcomes and results of outcomes)

We requested further information from the trial authors where required. This occurred with Barker 2000 as explained in the included studies section of the Results.

Studies were translated to English where possible.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

We assessed trial bias protection in the following domains and study quality according to whether studies met the following prespecified quality criteria (as met, unmet or unclear) using the risk of bias (RoB) table in Review Manager 5.

- 1. Sequence generation
- 2. Allocation concealment
- 3. Blinding of participants and investigators
- 4. Loss to follow-up

Measures of treatment effect

We extracted data for each of the outcomes (where data were available) from the trial publication that fulfilled the inclusion criteria.

We performed an initial qualitative comparison of all the individually analysed studies taking into account differences in study populations, inclusion/exclusion criteria, interventions, outcome assessment and estimated effect size, to examine whether pooling of results (meta-analysis) was reasonable.

Unit of analysis issues

We sought to obtain data that were reported with patients (rather than events) as the unit of analysis for the primary outcomes.

Dealing with missing data

The proportion of randomised patients who provided data for the main outcomes was reported and we had planned to compare this with the number of patients with events in each outcome category.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We had planned to describe and explore heterogeneity between the study results, and to use the 95% confidence interval, estimated using a random-effects model, whenever there were concerns about statistical heterogeneity.

Assessment of reporting biases

If combining data was possible, we had planned to assess publication bias using a funnel plot. We planned to identify and report on any selective reporting in the included trials.

Data synthesis

We combined data using Review Manager 5, with a view to using a fixed-effect mean difference (calculated as a weighted mean difference) for continuous data variables. If different scales were combined, we had intended to use the standardised mean difference.

For the dichotomous outcome variables of each individual study, we had planned to calculate odds ratios using a modified intention-to-treat analysis (i.e. failure assumed if participant drops out of study). This analysis assumes that children or adults not available for outcome assessment have not improved (and probably represents a conservative estimate of effect).

For the primary outcomes we intended to calculate a number needed to treat (benefit or harm) when possible for the different levels of risk as represented by control group event rates over a specified time period using the pooled Odds Ratio and its confidence interval using an online calculator, Visual Rx (Cates 2003). A summary of findings (SoF) table would be constructed for the primary outcomes.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We had intended to perform an a priori subgroup analysis for:

1. Children versus adults (adult studies will be considered as those which recruited participants from 18 years upwards)

2. Type of antibiotics (oral, intravenous, inhaled)

3. Type of control arm (placebo/no treatment or control antibiotic i.e. prolonged duration antibiotics)

4. State during enrolment (stable state or exacerbation)

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analyses were also planned to assess the impact of the potentially important factors on the overall outcomes:

1. variation in the inclusion criteria;

2. differences in the medications used in the intervention and comparison groups;

- 3. analysis using random-effects model;
- 4. analysis by "treatment received"; and
- 5. analysis by "intention-to-treat".

RESULTS

Description of studies

Results of the search

From the searches, the Cochrane Airways Group specialised register/search identified 187 potentially relevant titles. After assessing the titles/abstracts, we obtained19 papers for consideration for inclusion in the review. We reviewed 11 full text articles and 8 further abstracts. We excluded 18 studies (see Excluded studies). We found two potentially eligible studies, however they appeared to have used the same patient population, leaving only one eligible study in adults. We identified no studies in children.

Included studies

The included studies were Barker 2000 and Couch 2001a, which described the same study populations. Couch 2001a was an "early review of data" for a chest supplement on aerosolised therapeutics as discussed by Fiel 2001 in his editorial. For this reason, we used the final data in Barker's paper in this Cochrane Review.

The sole study was a multicentre parallel RCT that examined the effect of nebulised tobramycin (Tobramycin Solution for Inhalation) versus placebo, in adults with CT confirmed bronchiectasis and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. There were 16 study sites, 74 adults enrolled with completion rate of 81% (60/74). Further details are described in the Characteristics of included studies.

Excluded studies

Eighteen studies were excluded as they did not fulfil criteria for the review. Fifteen of the eighteen studies excluded had no suitable comparator/placebo group, one study did not specify bronchiectasis as an inclusion criterion, one study had treatment periods greater than four weeks, two studies shared a common study population, resulting in the exclusion of one.

Bilton 2006 and Shrewsbury 2004 examined short courses of antibiotics in bronchiectasis and compared oral ciprofloxacin (in treatment doses) plus placebo to oral ciprofloxacin plus inhaled tobramycin. Although these studies almost fulfilled criteria for inclusion, there was no "antibiotic-free" placebo for comparison, resulting in their exclusion from this review.

Couch 2001a was excluded as it was an early review of the same data used in the included study Barker 2000. Attempts to contact the corresponding author were unsuccessful, but this was confirmed in the editorial Fiel 2001 which accompanied the paper.

Risk of bias in included studies

Allocation concealment was unclear in this study (Barker 2000). Block randomisation was utilised to balance group sizes. The study was double-blinded, with both investigators and participants being blinded to study group allocation to reduce selection bias. Six patients were withdrawn from the placebo group due to need for an antibiotic other than the study drug.

Allocation

Block randomisation of patients was used. Eligible patients were randomly assigned in blocks of two to parallel groups at each study centre to receive either inhaled tobramycin or placebo.

Blinding

The study was double-blinded i.e. both participants and investigators were blinded to the study drug assignment until completion of the follow-up visit and data were collected from all study sites. The placebo used (quinine sulphate) was chosen because of its similar taste to tobramycin. It was unclear whether investigators were blinded to the study hypothesis.

Incomplete outcome data

The number of participants withdrawn (due to adverse events or use of antibiotic other than the study drug) and those lost to follow-up were reported for both inhaled tobramycin and placebo groups.

Selective reporting

There was no suggestion that selective reporting had occurred.

Effects of interventions

The included trial involved 74 patients with 60 completing the study. In the absence of additional suitable studies, there were insufficient data to perform a meta-analysis. The outcomes from the single study (also presented in the forest plot) were:

Primary Outcomes

1. Symptom score (e.g. bronchiectasis severity control, cough-specific/respiratory-specific quality of life (QoL) or generic health-specific QoL)

The study did not specifically measure any symptoms to determine a symptom score. Instead, the investigator's subjective assessment of a change in the patient's general medical condition ("improved" or "not improved") was recorded at week six: 23 of 37 (62%) patients in the tobramycin-treated group significantly improved compared to 14 of 35 (40%) in the placebo group that improved (Analysis 1.1; OR 0.37; 95% CI 0.14 to 0.95).

2. Lung function indices (airway resistance or airway calibre measurements)

Percent change in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) percent predicted and in Forced Vital Capacity (FVC) percent predicted from baseline to week four were not statistically significant between the tobramycin and placebo groups (-2.2% versus 1.5% respectively, P = 0.41) for FEV₁ % predicted and FVC % predicted (-2.8% versus 2.2%, P = 0.19). Airway reactivity (percent change in FEV1 from pre- to post-study drug administration) was not significantly different from zero percent for either the tobramycin group (mean = -1%, Week 0, -3% Week 4) or placebo group (mean = -3% Week 0, -1% Week 4).

3. Adverse events

Thirty-one of 37 (84%) patients in each treatment group reported at least one adverse event. Respiratory system adverse events were reported by 26 (70%) tobramycin patients and by 19 (51%) placebo patients. There was no statistical significance, but results favoured the placebo group (OR 2.24; 95% CI 0.86 to 5.82; Analysis 2.1). Five patients in the tobramycin group and one patient in the placebo group were hospitalised and treated for an exacerbation of their pulmonary disease (OR 5.63; 95% CI 0.62 to 50.73; Analysis 2.2).

Secondary outcomes

1. Microbiological response (i.e. change in *P. aeruginosa* density from baseline to week 4 and week 6 and antibiotic resistance)

At the end of the trial, significantly more subjects in the tobramycin group (13 of 37) had *P. aeruginosa* eradicated from their sputum compared to the placebo group (0 of 37); (OR 0.03; 95% CI 0.01 to 0.14; Analysis 3.1.) Furthermore, a further 12 patients in the tobramycin group had reduced *P. aeruginosa* carriage (PA cfu/g decreased by at least $2 \log_{10}$ at week 4), compared to two patients with reduced carriage in the placebo group.

However, at follow-up two weeks post cessation of antibiotics, the mean reduction in the tobramycin group was smaller than in previous weeks, suggesting some regrowth of organisms after ceasing the antibiotic.

Four of 36 patients in the tobramycin group and one of 32 in the placebo group, who began the study with susceptible *P. aeruginosa*, had resistant *P. aeruginosa* at their last visit (P = 0.36). Three of the four patients in the tobramycin group who developed resistant *P. aeruginosa* showed no microbiological response. All four patients

were considered to have not improved when their general medical condition was assessed.

DISCUSSION

This review is limited to a sole study in adults. The data suggest that short term inhaled antibiotics show some benefit in the treatment of patients with bronchiectasis and *P. aeruginosa*. The study followed the patients for only two weeks post-treatment to assess longevity of response. Despite its weaknesses, this single study supports previous Cochrane Reviews on the use of longer term antibiotics in bronchiectasis (Evans 2007), in showing subjective improvement in general medical condition as assessed by an investigator.

This review has highlighted the fact that, although antibiotics are the mainstay of treatment in adults and children with bronchiectasis, there remains a paucity of data, particularly high quality data, to support this practice. In today's evidence based medical era and with bronchiectasis becoming increasingly recognised as a major cause of respiratory morbidity, there will be an increasing need to provide evidence-based answers to these common questions.

A small number of patients in the study antibiotic arm developed "resistant" pseudomonas. This highlights an important complication of antibiotic therapy, particularly when antibiotic use in any one patient is prolonged or recurrent. Previous research by Hillier 2007 has shown that antibiotic resistance increases with increased duration of antibiotic therapy. These findings are related to urinary tract infections but are likely to be applicable to infections elsewhere in the body including the lung. This issue, combined with the likely improved quality of life for patients receiving shorter courses of antibiotics, highlights the need for further studies to determine the optimal duration of antibiotic therapy in bronchiectasis.

The included study followed patients for only two weeks posttherapy. Given that antibiotics are known to indirectly limit neutrophilic inflammation in the airways and ideally eradicate the bacterial infection, it is not surprising that patients showed improvement over this follow-up period. It is unknown if two weeks is an optimal timeframe to assess bacterial eradication adding further to the limitations of this study. To assess longevity of symptom response and microbiological eradication, a longer timeframe of follow-up would have been required.

Evans 2007's Cochrane Review on prolonged antibiotics found a significant benefit of prolonged antibiotics (i.e. four or more weeks) in terms of response rates. They found no significant difference between placebo and prolonged antibiotics in terms of exacerbation rates and lung function. This would concur with Barker 2000, which found a subjective improvement in patients' general medical condition with inhaled tobramycin therapy as compared to placebo, with no significant differences in lung function between treatment groups.

The single included study (Barker 2000) showed some benefit of four weeks of inhaled antibiotic therapy compared with placebo in patients with bronchiectasis and *P. aeruginosa* infection in terms of microbiological response (at the expense of increased resistance) and improvement in general medical condition. The lack of other suitable studies for this Cochrane Review precluded a meta-analysis, and as a result we could not draw any firm conclusions on the topic.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

When considering implications for practice, one must acknowledge the fact that this review was based on one study of adult patients and the intervention was "inhaled" antibiotics. This study showed a small benefit in microbiological response and overall subjective improvement in general medical condition, with no effect on lung function and an increase in adverse events in the intervention group. The study failed to address primary outcome measures with symptom scores or objective outcomes. Therefore, although this one study is suggestive of benefit of short courses of antibiotics for bronchiectasis, one would conclude, for current practice implications, that there is insufficient evidence available in the current literature to make any reasonable conclusions. However until further evidence is available, clinicians should adhere to guidelines (Chang 2010; Pasteur 2010) that include data from non RCTs.

Implications for research

Well-designed, double-blinded, parallel, randomised controlled trials are required to assess the role of short courses of antibiotics in the treatment of bronchiectasis. These studies should include validated outcome measures such as improvements in symptom score, QOL and lung function, balanced against adverse effects as primary outcome measures. Trials including oral, inhaled and intravenous antibiotic administration methods are needed. Future RCTs should be undertaken in paediatric as well as adult patients. Well-designed studies should include sufficient longitudinal follow-up of patients to assess longevity of intervention response and therefore applicability of evidence to practice. Such well-designed research would have the potential to improve the quality of life for individuals with bronchiectasis.

A C K N O W L E D G E M E N T S

We thank Toby Lasserson, Dr Chris Cates, Elizabeth Stovold (neé Arnold) and Susan Ann Hansen from the Cochrane Airways

Group for their advice, supportive role and comments on the protocol and review. We also thank Martina Franke and Elizabeth Stovold for kindly assisting with German and Spanish translation respectively.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Barker 2000 {published data only}

Barker AF, Couch L, Fiel SB, Gotfried MH, Ilowite J, Meyer KC, et al. Tobramycin solution for inhalation reduces sputum Pseudomonas aeruginosa density in bronchiectasis. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine* 2000;**162**(2 Pt 1):481–5.

References to studies excluded from this review

Bilton 2006 {published data only}

Bilton D, Henig N, Morrissey B, Gotfried M. Addition of inhaled tobramycin to ciprofloxacin for acute exacerbations of Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in adult bronchiectasis. *Chest* 2006;**130**(5):1503–10.

Chrysanthopoulos 1989 {published data only}

Chrysanthopoulos CJ, Starakis JC, Skoutelis AT, Bassaris HP. Brief report: Sequential intravenous/oral therapy with ciprofloxacin in severe infection. *American Journal of Medicine* 1989;**87**(5 A):225S–7S.

Couch 2001a {published data only}

Couch L. Treatment with tobramycin solution for inhalation in bronchiectasis patients with Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Chest* 2001;**120**(3 Suppl 11):4S–7S.

Douglas 1957 {published data only}

Douglas AC, Somner AR, Marks BL, Grant IW. Effect of antibiotics on purulent sputum in chronic bronchitis and bronchiectasis. *Lancet* 1957;**273**(6988):214–8.

Howie 1976 {published data only}

Howie JG. Antibiotics and purulent sputum. *British Medical Journal* 1976;2(6040):882.

Lam 1989 {published data only}

Lam WK, Chau PY, So SY, Leung YK, Chan JC, Ip M, et al. Ofloxacin compared with amoxycillin in treating infective exacerbations in bronchiectasis. *Respiratory medicine* 1989; **83**(4):299–303.

Lin 1996 {published data only}

Lin HC, Wang CH, Liu CY, Yu CT, Kuo HP. Amoxicillin downregulates the release of neutrophil derived proinflammatory cytokines and C5a in patients with bronchiectasis [abstract]. *European Respiratory Journal. Supplement.* 1996;**9 Suppl 23**:400s.

Matsumoto 1986 {published data only}

Matsumoto K, Takahashi A, Yamamoto M. A study on the evaluation of the efficacy of chemotherapy for chronic respiratory tract infections. [Japanese]. *Chemotherapy* 1986; **34**(4):316–30.

May 1972 {published data only}

May JR, Ingold A. Amoxycillin in the treatment of chronic non-tuberculous bronchial infections. *British Journal of Diseases of the Chest* 1972;**66**(3):185–91.

Mehta 1991 {published data only}

Mehta AP, Phutane L, Patel MH, Rupwate RU, Kamat SR. Comparative study of amoxycillin and amoxycillin/ clavulanic acid in lower respiratory infections. *Journal of the Association of Physicians of India* 1991;**39**(3):251–3.

Messens 1973 {published data only}

Messens Y, Oger A, Cornette M, Calay G. [Double-blind study of the sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim association in the treatment of pulmonary infections]. *Acta Clinica Belgica* 1973;**28**(2):92–9.

Mijuskovic 1972 {published data only}

Mijuskovic B, Macanovic J. Bisolvomycin and Bisolvon in the treatment of chronic bronchitis, bronchial asthma and bronchiectasis. *Plucne Bolesti i Tuberkuloza* 1972;**24**(3): 229–33.

Nagy 1968 {published data only}

Nagy M, Meszaros G. [Late results of the conservative treatment of bronchiectasis in adults]. [German]. Zeitschrift fur Tuberkulose und Erkrankungen der Thoraxorgane 1968; **127**(5):283–90.

Oki 1993 {published data only}

Oki Y, Morishita M, Miyachi A. An evaluation of low dose long term erythromycin chemotherapy in bronchiectasis. [Japanese]. *Japanese Journal of Chest Diseases* 1993;**52**(1): 54–8.

Santiveri 1995 {published data only}

Santiveri C, Orriols R, Roig J, Balcells E, Bellver P, Ferrer A, et al. Effectiveness of inhaled antibiotic treatment for pseudomonas aeruginosa in outpatients with colonized bronchiectasis without mucoviscidosis. *Archivos de Bronconeumologia* 1995;**31**(Suppl):42.

Shrewsbury 2004 {published data only}

Shrewsbury SB, Bilton D, Gotfried M, Jones SA. The TABLE study (TOBI in acute bronchiectasis: additional treatment for exacerbations): rationale and methodolgy [Abstract]. American Thoracic Society 100th International Conference, May 21-26, 2004, Orlando. 2004:A42 Poster A53.

Tagaya 2002 {published data only}

Tagaya E, Tamaoki J, Kondo M, Nagai A. Effect of a short course of clarithromycin therapy on sputum production in patients with chronic airway hypersecretion. *Chest* 2002; **122**(1):213–8.

Twiss 2008 {published data only}

Twiss J, Byrnes CA. Nebulized antibiotics reduce symptoms, bacterial density and oral antibiotic usage in children with non cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis [Abstract]. American Thoracic Society International Conference, May 16-21, 2008, Toronto. 2008:A681[#C40].

Additional references

Adler 1990

Adler KB, Holden-Stauffer WJ, Repine JE. Oxygen metabolites stimulate release of high-molecular-weight glycoconjugates by cell and organ cultures of rodent respiratory epithelium via an arachidonic acid-dependent mechanism. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 1990;**85**(1): 75–85.

Amitani 1995

Amitani R, Taylor G, Elezis EN, Llewellyn-Jones C, Mitchell J, Kuze F, et al. Purification and characterization of factors produced by Aspergillus fumigatus which affect human ciliated respiratory epithelium. *Infection and immunity* 1995;**63**(9):3266–71.

Anderson 1996

Anderson R, Feldman C, Theron AJ, Ramafi G, Cole PJ, Wilson R. Anti-inflammatory, membrane-stabilizing interactions of salmeterol with human neutrophils in vitro. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 1996;**117**(7):1387–94.

Callahan 2002

Callahan CW, Redding GJ. Bronchiectasis in children: orphan disease or persistent problem?. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2002;**33**(6):492–6.

Cates 2003 [Computer program]

Cates C. Visual Rx. Online NNT Calculator. http:// www.nntonline.net/. London: Cates C, 2003.

Chang 1998

Chang AB, Masel JP, Masters B. Post-infectious bronchiolitis obliterans: clinical, radiological and pulmonary function sequelae. *Pediatric Radiology* 1998;**28**(1):23–9.

Chang 2008

Chang AB, Bilton D. Exacerbations in cystic fibrosis: 4-Non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. *Thorax* 2008;**63**(3): 269–76.

Chang 2008b

Chang AB, Grimwood K, Macguire G, King PT, Morris PS, Torzillo PJ. Management of bronchiectasis and chronic suppurative lung disease (CSLD) in Indigenous children and adults from rural and remote Australian communities. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2008;**189**:386–93.

Chang 2010

Chang AB, Bell SC, Byrnes CA, Grimwood K, Holmes PW, King PT, et al. Bronchiectasis and chronic suppurative lung disease (CSLD) in children and adults in Australian and New Zealand: Thoracic Society of Australia and New Zealand and Australian Lung Foundation Position Statement. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2010;**193**:356–65.

Cole 1986

Cole PJ. Inflammation: a two-edged sword--the model of bronchiectasis. *European Journal of Respiratory Diseases Supplement* 1986;**147**:6–15.

Eastham 2004

Eastham KM, Fall AJ, Mitchell L, Spencer DA. The need to redefine non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis in childhood. *Thorax* 2004;**59**(4):324–7.

Edwards 2003

Edwards EA, Asher MI, Byrnes CA. Paediatric bronchiectasis in the twenty-first century: experience of a tertiary children's hospital in New Zealand. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health* 2003;**39**(2):111–7.

Evans 2007

Evans DJ, Bara AI, Greenstone M. Prolonged antibiotics for purulent bronchiectasis in children and adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 2. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001392.pub2]

Fiel 2001

Fiel SB. History and evolution of aerosolized therapeutics: overview and introduction. *Chest* 2001;**120**(3 Suppl): 87S–8S.

Gaga 1998

Gaga M, Bentley AM, Humbert M, Barkans J, O'Brien F, Wathen CG, et al. Increases in CD4+ T lymphocytes, macrophages, neutrophils and interleukin 8 positive cells in the airways of patients with bronchiectasis. *Thorax* 1998;**53** (8):685–91.

Gaillard 2003

Gaillard EA, Carty H, Heaf D, Smyth RL. Reversible bronchial dilatation in children: comparison of serial high-resolution computer tomography scans of the lungs. *European Journal of Radiology* 2003;47:215–20.

Hill 2009

Hill LE, Ritchie G, Wightman AJ, Hill AT, Murchison JT. Comparison between conventional interrupted highresolution CT and volume multidetector CT acquisition in the assessment of bronchiectasis. *British Journal of Radiology* 2009;**63**:67–70.

Hillier 2007

Hillier S, Roberts Z, Dunstan F, Butler C, Howard A, Palmer S. Prior antibiotics and risk of antibiotic-resistant community-acquired urinary tract infection: a case-control study. *The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 2007;**60** (1):92–9.

Kapur 2009

Kapur N, Masters IB, Chang AB. Exacerbations in non cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis: Clinical features and investigations. *Respiratory Medicine* 2009;**103**:1681–7.

Kapur 2010

Kapur N, Masters IB, Chang A. Longitudinal growth and lung function in pediatric non-CF bronchiectasis what influences lung function stability?. Chest 2010, issue EPub ahead of print Feb 19, 2010. [DOI: 10.1378/ chest.09-2932]

Karakoc 2009

Karakoc GB, Inal A, Yilmaz M, Altintas DU, Kendirli SG. Exhaled breath condensate MMP-9 levels in children with bronchiectasis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2009;44(10):1010–6.

King 2004

King PT, Freezer NJ, Holmes PW, Holdsworth SR, Forshaw K, Sart DD. Role of CFTR mutations in adult bronchiectasis. *Thorax* 2004;**59**(4):357–8.

Lewis 2002

Lewis MM, Mortelliti MP, Yeager H, Tsou E. Clinical bronchiectasis complicating pulmonary sarcoidosis: case series of seven patients. *Sarcoidosis, vasculitis, and diffuse lung diseases : official journal of WASOG / World Association of Sarcoidosis and Other Granulomatous Disorders* 2002;**19** (2):154–9.

Li 2005

Li AM, Sonnappa S, Lex C, Wong E, Zacharasiewicz A, Bush A, et al. Non-CF bronchiectasis: does knowing the aetiology lead to changes in management?. *The European respiratory journal : official journal of the European Society for Clinical Respiratory Physiology* 2005;**26**(1):8–14.

Lin 1997

Lin HC, Cheng HF, Wang CH, Liu CY, Yu CT, Kuo HP. Inhaled gentamicin reduces airway neutrophil activity and mucus secretion in bronchiectasis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 1997;**155**(6):2024–9.

Loebinger 2007

Loebinger MR, Wilson R. Pharmacotherapy for bronchiectasis. *Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy* 2007;**8** (18):3183–93.

O'Brien 2000

O'Brien C, Guest PJ, Hill SL, Stockley RA. Physiological and radiological characterisation of patients diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in primary care. *Thorax* 2000;**55**(8):635–42.

Pasteur 2010

Pasteur MC, Bilton D, Hill AT. British Thoracic Society guideline for non-CF bronchiectasis. *Thorax* 2010;**65**: i1–i58.

Patel 2004

Patel IS, Vlahos I, Wilkinson TM, Lloyd-Owen SJ, Donaldson GC, Wilks M, et al. Bronchiectasis, exacerbation indices, and inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2004;**170**(4):400–7.

Prasad 2007

Prasad M, Tino G. Bronchiectasis, part 2: Management. *The Journal of respiratory diseases* 2007;**29**(1):20–5.

Review Manager 5 [Computer program]

The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager (RevMan). Version 5.0. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2008.

Shoemark 2007

Shoemark A, Ozerovitch L, Wilson R. Aetiology in adult patients with bronchiectasis. *Respiratory Medicine* 2007;**10**: 1163–70.

Shum 2000

Shum DK, Chan SC, Ip MS. Neutrophil-mediated degradation of lung proteoglycans: stimulation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha in sputum of patients with bronchiectasis. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2000;**162**(5):1925–31.

Singleton 2000

Singleton R, Morris A, Redding G, Poll J, Holck P, Martinez P, et al. Bronchiectasis in Alaska Native children: causes and clinical courses. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2000;**29**(3):182–7.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Barker 2000

Methods	The study was a randomised placebo-controlled, double-blinded trial with antibiotics administered for 4 weeks. Eligible patients were randomly assigned in blocks of two to parallel groups at each of 16 study sites across the United States to receive either Tobramycin solution for inhalation or placebo. This was administered twice daily for 4 weeks in bronchiectasis patients whose sputum contained <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i> . Patients were then observed for 2 weeks after administration of their last dose. Of patients enrolled, they were divided equally between the two treatment groups. Patients were withdrawn if they required any additional antibiotics at any stage during study participation Patients were screened 2 weeks prior to their initial dose of the study drug, were dosed for 4 weeks, and then observed for 2 weeks after their last dose. Thus the total duration of the study was 8 weeks. At each visit a sputum sample was obtained and the density of the <i>P. aeruginosa</i> in sputum was measured. Pulmonary function testing (FEV1 and FVC) was performed at baseline and at the final treatment visit (week 4). Tobramycin levels were measured. Adherence was measured at week 4 by counting the number of vials of study drug used. A subjective clinical assessment of the patient's general medical condition was made, by a study investigator, at the follow-up visit on week 6 There were 6 patients who withdrew from the tobramycin group (3 for adverse events, 2 for use of antibiotics other than study drug, and 1 was lost to follow-up.) 8 withdrew from the placebo group (2 for adverse events, and 6 for use of antibiotics other than the study drug.)
Participants	125 patients were screened and 74 patients (45 female), mean age 66.6 (tobramycin group) and 63.2 (placebo group) were enrolled. Patients were block randomised to receive either 300 mg of inhaled tobramycin or placebo twice daily for 4 weeks. 37 received inhaled tobramycin and 37 received placebo Inclusion: Bronchiectasis diagnosed by conventional or high-resolution CT and sputum containing at least 10 ⁴ cfu/mL <i>P. aeruginosa</i> . Exclusion: cystic fibrosis, allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis, acute pulmonary process requiring medical intervention as indicated by a new infiltrate on a chest radiograph, significant recent haemoptysis, or had received antibiotics within 2 weeks of the screening visit
Interventions	Nebulised tobramycin solution for inhalation (300 mg tobramycin) twice daily or placebo for 4 weeks
Outcomes	Primary end point was (1) Change in <i>P. aeruginosa</i> density from baseline to week 4. Additional endpoints included: (1) change in <i>P. aeruginosa</i> density from baseline values to week 2 and to week 6; (2) an investigator's subjective assessment of a change in the patient's general medical condition ("improved" or "not improved") was made and recorded at week 6, (3) the percent change in FEV1 percent predicted and in FVC percent predicted from week 0 to week 4 and (4) Safety endpoints included the incidence of adverse events, change in serum chemistry and haematology measurements, and airway reactivity

Barker 2000 (Continued)

Each patient's microbiological response was categorised according to whether <i>P. aeruginosa</i> was eradicated, reduced by treatment, or did not respond to treatment. <i>P. aeruginosa</i> was considered eradicated if it was not detected at week 6 or if it was not detected at week 4 and the patient was unable to produce sputum at week 6. A patient's response was defined as reduced by treatment if <i>P. aeruginosa</i> was recovered from the week 6 sputum and reduced by at least 2 log 10 cfu/g at week 4 compared with baseline. A patient had no microbiological response if <i>P. aeruginosa</i> did not decrease 2 log 10 cfu/g at week 4 or if the patient withdrew from the study

Notes

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Unclear
Blinding of participants and investigators.	Low risk	Patients and investigators were blinded to the study drug assignment
Incomplete outcome data assessed?	Low risk	Number of dropouts and loss to follow-up included.
Free of selective reporting?	Low risk	No suggestion that selective reporting may have occurred.
Free of other bias?	Low risk	No other bias identified
Sequence generation.	Low risk	Sequence generation was referred to, how- ever details were not provided

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Bilton 2006	No suitable placebo/comparator group. (Comparator was not adequate to satisfy inclusion criteria, i.e. no "antibiotic-free/placebo" or long-term antibiotic group for comparison.)
Chrysanthopoulos 1989	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Couch 2001a	Overlap of study participants with included study.
Douglas 1957	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Howie 1976	Study participants had unknown bronchiectasis status.

(Continued)

Lam 1989	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Lin 1996	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Matsumoto 1986	No suitable placebo/comparator group. Not an RCT.
May 1972	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Mehta 1991	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Messens 1973	Translated from French. No suitable placebo/comparator group
Mijuskovic 1972	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Nagy 1968	No suitable placebo/comparator group. (Compared antibiotic treatment to surgery.)
Oki 1993	No suitable placebo/comparator group. (Examined long term antibiotic treatment, no short course treat- ment arm.)
Santiveri 1995	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Shrewsbury 2004	No suitable placebo/comparator group. (Comparator was not adequate to satisfy inclusion criteria, i.e. no "antibiotic-free/placebo" or long-term antibiotic group for comparison.)
Tagaya 2002	No suitable placebo/comparator group.
Twiss 2008	Longer-course antibiotics (i.e. 2 to 3 months) compared to placebo. No short course group

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Change in general medical condition

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Improvement in general medical condition	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only

Comparison 2. Respiratory system adverse events

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Respiratory system adverse events	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
2 Hospitalised for respiratory events	1		Odds Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only

Comparison 3. Microbiological response

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Microbiological response	1	Odds Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)		Subtotals only

Comparison 4. Development of pseudomonas resistance (when initially sensitive)

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
1 Pseudomonas resistance	1	Odds Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)		Subtotals only

Analysis I.I. Comparison I Change in general medical condition, Outcome I Improvement in general medical condition.

Review: Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis

Comparison: I Change in general medical condition

Outcome: I Improvement in general medical condition

Study or subgroup	TSI n/N	Placebo n/N	Odds Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl	Weight	Odds Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Barker 2000	14/37	23/37			0.37 [0.14, 0.95]
Subtotal (95% CI)	0	0			0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
Total events: 14 (TSI), 23 (Place	bo)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.0$ (I	P < 0.00001)				
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100		
			Favours TSI Favours placeb	D	

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Respiratory system adverse events, Outcome I Respiratory system adverse events.

Review: Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis

Comparison: 2 Respiratory system adverse events

Outcome: I Respiratory system adverse events

Study or subgroup	TSI	Placebo	Odds Ratio	Weight	Odds Ratio
	n/N	n/N	M-H,Fixed,95% CI		M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Barker 2000	26/37	19/37			2.24 [0.86, 5.82]
Subtotal (95% CI)	0	0			0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
Total events: 26 (TSI), 19 (Place	:bo)				
Heterogeneity: not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.0$ (P < 0.00001)				
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100		
			Favours TSI Favours placebo		

Analysis 2.2. Comparison 2 Respiratory system adverse events, Outcome 2 Hospitalised for respiratory events.

Review: Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis

Comparison: 2 Respiratory system adverse events

Outcome: 2 Hospitalised for respiratory events

Study or subgroup	Tobramycin n/N	Placebo n/N	-	Odds Ratio ≪ed,95% Cl	Weight	Odds Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Barker 2000	5/37	1/37	-			5.63 [0.62, 50.73]
Subtotal (95% CI)	0	0				0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
Total events: 5 (Tobramycin), I	(Placebo)					
Heterogeneity: not applicable						
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.0$ (P < 0.00001)					
			0.01 0.1	I IO IOO		
		Fav	vours experimental	Favours control		

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Microbiological response, Outcome 1 Microbiological response.

Review: Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis

response					
ponse					
TSI n/N	Placebo n/N	Odds Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl		Weight	Odds Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
12/37	33/35				0.03 [0.01, 0.14]
Subtotal (95% CI)0Total events: 12 (TSI), 33 (Placebo)Heterogeneity: not applicableTest for overall effect: Z = 0.0 (P < 0.00001)					0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
		0.01 0.1 Favours TSI	I IO IOO Favours placebo		
	TSI n/N 12/37 0	TSI Placebo <u>n/N n/N</u> 12/37 33/35 0 0)	TSI Placebo C n/N n/N M-H,Fix 12/37 33/35 0 0) < 0.00001)	TSI Placebo Odds Ratio n/N n/N M-H,Fixed,95% Cl 12/37 33/35 0 0) < 0.00001)	TSI Placebo Odds Ratio Weight n/N n/N M-H,Fixed,95% Cl 12/37 33/35 0 0 (0.00001)

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Development of pseudomonas resistance (when initially sensitive), Outcome I Pseudomonas resistance.

Review: Short courses of antibiotics for children and adults with bronchiectasis

Comparison: 4 Development of pseudomonas resistance (when initially sensitive)

Outcome: I Pseudomonas resistance

Study or subgroup	TSI n/N	Placebo n/N	Odds Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl	Weight	Odds Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl
Barker 2000	4/36	1/32			3.88 [0.41, 36.63]
Subtotal (95% CI)	0	0			0.0 [0.0, 0.0]
Total events: 4 (TSI), 1 (Placebo))				
Heterogeneity: not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.0$ (F	P < 0.00001)				
			0.01 0.1 1 10 100		
		Fav	ours experimental Favours contro	l	

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

DW and AC wrote the protocol, based on previous protocols on cough in children. DW and AC selected articles from the search and together with JM, wrote the manuscript. BM, JU and SY contributed by reviewing the manuscript.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No conflicts of interest.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Australian Cochrane Airways Group Network Graduate Scholarship, Australia. Support to attend Cochrane Airways course

External sources

• TSANZ Allen and Hanbury's Paediatric Respiratory Grant-in-aid, Australia.

To support paediatric respiratory training for DW

• Queensland Children's Medical Research Institute, Australia.

Top-up scholarship for DW; Program grant for AC

• NHMRC, Australia.

Practitioner Fellowship for AC

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

The duration of short course antibiotics was originally specified in the protocol as less than four weeks, however, in the actual review this was amended to four weeks or less to enable inclusion of Barker 2000.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Anti-Bacterial Agents [administration & dosage; *therapeutic use]; Bronchiectasis [*drug therapy]; Drug Administration Schedule; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

MeSH check words

Adult; Child; Humans